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fortified houses of the 1630s’, on rising ground overlooking the entrance into the

West Passage of Cork Harbour.! Murrough Boyle, 1st Viscount Blessington, inher-
ited the castle in 1702 from Michael Boyle, the Archbishop of Armagh.? In 1758 the vis-
count’s heir, Charles Dunbar, of Blessington, commissioned John Rocque to survey his
Monkstown estate in Cork. Well known for his eighteenth-century surveys of cities,
including his famous Survey of London (1746), various surveys of Dublin city and envi-
rons (1756-60), Survey of the City of Kilkenny (1758) and Survey of the City and Suburbs
of Cork (1759),> Rocque also mapped the Kildare estates of James FitzGerald, 20th Earl
of Kildare (later 1st Duke of Leinster).* Until recently these eight volumes of Kildare
townland maps were considered the only privately commissioned estate maps that Rocque
had made while in Ireland.> However, the 1758 estate survey of Monkstown in Cork (Plate
1), discovered among the uncatalogued maps in the Pakenham Papers as part of this
research, demonstrate that Rocque worked on other private estates.® Its production closely
coincided with that of his 1759 Survey of the City and Suburbs of Cork. Rocque probably
accepted the commission because it lay conveniently close to his much larger project of
surveying Cork city.

Maps of Ireland in the eighteenth century generally marked the gentry’s residences,
representing the place of the elite in the Irish landscape and society.” Estate surveys were
commissioned for different purposes — to mark succession to an estate, to settle disputes,
to introduce new management strategies, to lease holdings or when property was sold.
The principal objective was to determine the extent of the property in terms of boundaries
or acres, sometimes with a secondary purpose of measuring land quality.® Rocque’s 1758
map is the first detailed mapping exercise of Monkstown. A prestigious display object, it

r I YHE ARCHDEACON FAMILY BUILT MONKSTOWN CASTLE, ‘ONE OF THE GREAT SEMI-

1 —John Rocque, ‘A Survey of Monkstown, Situated in the County of Cork,
belonging to Charles Dunbar Esq.’, 1758 (detail) (Pakenham Papers)
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was designed to be hung on a wall but also had the practical purpose of establishing the
boundaries, land use and extent of Dunbar’s estate. It depicted such man-made features
as buildings, enclosures and plantations alongside the natural topography of ridges, slopes
and rivers.’ It provided Dunbar with an overview of his estate by relating one townland
to another while marking out the field boundaries and the numbered building plots. It
also depicted existing cabins, houses and churches and provided descriptions of the qual-
ity of the land.

The hallmark of Rocque’s cartography was the unprecedented amount of detailed
information his maps contained on the cities and landscapes he mapped.'° The Survey of
Monkstown, hand-drawn in ink and watercolour, employed Rocque’s various symbols
for landscape types and land use.!! Townland boundaries were drawn in deep pink lines,
while the level changes across the steeply sloping terrain were depicted using hachures
— lines drawn close together to represent ground in three dimensions.'? The map provided
valuable information on the extent and nature of enclosures, settlement patterns and road
networks. House plans are indicated, although it is possible that many cabins were omitted
or mapped inconsistently.

The title cartouche, drawn with black ink with variety in tone, incorporated a local
view and allegorical figures in the bottom right- and left-hand corners, all surrounded by
a delicate rococo frame of volutes and swirls.!? John Montague describes these cartouches
as ‘a kind of Rocquian signature to a work otherwise carried out by a wide range of assis-
tants’."* The cartouche is placed above the northern boundary of the estate beside the
functional reference table, demonstrating the careful balance between decoration and
practical estate information. The essential cartographical elements of the scale bar and
north point were incorporated into the main sail of the ship (Plate 2a).

Rocque’s Survey of Monkstown also highlights the spatial reach of the Parker fam-
ily. Tenants of the estate, they resided in Passage West from the early eighteenth century

opposite, 3 — John E. Bosanquet (fl.1854-71),
2 — Details of John Rocque, ‘A Survey of GLENBROOK AND THE TURKISH BATHS
Monkstown’, 1758  (Pakenham Papers) ¢.1858, watercolour (detail) (Crawford Art Gallery)
(from left: Royal Victoria Monkstown & Passage Baths,
also known as Glenbrook Baths, with Lackeroe House to
the right, Glenbrook Place, Glenbrook Terrace and
(b) showing Alderman Harding Parker’s garden Victoria Terrace further right towards Passage)

(a) showing scale bar and north point, Monkstown Castle,
the castle farm and the townland of Monkstown
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and were prominent in the life of Cork city. The garden of Alderman Harding Parker,
Mayor of Cork, was specifically identified (Plate 2b)."> Park Farm, lying west of
Maulbaun, was leased to Harding Parker and contained a dairy house and garden, barn,
meadow, stone field and a rye-grass field.'® Michael Parker, surveyor, prominent tenant
and the local agent for the Monkstown, Cork estate leased more than 136 acres.!” A 1769
advertisement for letting ‘that part of Monkstown and town of Passage (the estate of
Charles Dunbar, Esq.) called Maulbawne, containing 31 acres’, asked for proposals to be
sent to ‘Mr. Parker of Passage’ who would ‘send a man to shew the land’ and would also
“faithfully transmit’ all proposals ‘to Dunbar in London’."

When Charles Dunbar died in 1778, Thomas Vesey, 1st Viscount de Vesci, and
Edward Michael Pakenham, 2nd Baron Longford, inherited this large Cork suburban
estate of 1,500 acres and a similar suburban estate in county Dublin, both, coincidentally,
in parishes of Monkstown.!" They jointly owned and managed these lands until 1835
when they became the sole property of John Vesey, 2nd Viscount de Vesci (1771-1855).20
This article examines the transformation of the Monkstown estate in Cork from a rural
agricultural landscape in the mid-eighteenth century to a coastal resort suburb by the
1830s. Its three coastal suburban towns of Glenbrook, Monkstown and part of Passage
West were situated approximately ten miles south-east of Cork city (Plate 3).2! The
Longford and de Vesci families and their important tenants, the Parker and Shaw families,
influenced the design, formation and development of these nineteenth-century suburban
landscapes. Tenurial conditions imposed by the estate controlled the construction of
houses by speculative developers who responded to the changing market demands of
Cork’s growing middle class. Streets, terraces and villas were laid out by the estate to
create attractive residential environments. The article also explores how the Dublin and
Cork estates differed in their respective levels of involvement and investment by the
ground landlords.

Many letters had to be exchanged between the two landlords in order to manage
their joint estate effectively, and such letters are particularly revealing as the ground land-
lords were more direct when writing to each other as equals than in their letters to agents
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or tenants. Pakenham wrote to Vesey in 1787 to describe an encounter with a Mr Bateman,
who had visited him at Pakenham Hall about his rent but had failed to inform Pakenham
of his earlier interaction with the estate’s local agent, Michael Parker, in Cork.?? In the
letter, Pakenham complained that ‘an Eel is not more slippery than an Irish Gentleman,
if you take his word and honor for the Payment of a sum of Money’. He reassured his co-
landlord that they had Bateman ‘fast now’ and that it would be their own fault if they did
not get the correct rent.?

When Michael Parker died in 1791, his son, Richard Neville Parker, inherited the
position of agent from his father.?* He built Waterview House in 1803, on land leased
from lords Longford and de Vesci for three lives renewable forever (Plate 4).> As was
common with this type of renewable forever lease, he quickly sublet ‘Water-View House
and Demesne’ to his brother William Parker. In 1805 the Parker family applied for lease
of the whole of the townland of Maulbaun in perpetuity, but their request was refused by
the estate and in 1806 Parker was replaced as agent by the Dublin-based firm of Stewart
& Swan.?® In an 1814 letter to John Vesey, Thomas Pakenham suggested why when he
wrote that ‘a whole townland should not be let to any one family or individual” and that
he ‘was never in favour of granting leases in perpetuity’.?’ In the eighteenth century ‘the
most common method of managing large estates in Ireland was to split them into consid-
erable tracts of from 100 to 1,000 acres or more, and then to give them to middlemen on
long leases’.?® But by 1790 it was generally accepted that ‘letting out an estate to sub-
stantial, industrious, local Protestants was no longer the optimal strategy’.?° This policy
shift was typically implemented when large holdings fell out of lease and landlords could
choose to exclude the claims of old families and to break up large holdings by giving
direct leases of smaller parcels of land to those families’ under-tenants.*

When Pakenham and Vesey jointly inherited their Monkstown, Cork estate in 1778,
Passage was ‘a small place ... where all ships of burthen unlade, and their cargoes are
carried up to Cork, which is five miles distant, either on cars, or in small vessels’.%!
Consisting of a long street with some small lanes leading off it and a busy seafront with
dockyards, Passage played an important role in the commercial life of Cork city in the
early nineteenth century. In 1813 a ship’s chandlery was set up in Passage, and by the
late 1820s it was the busiest anchorage in Cork.*? The Parker’s seat of Waterview House,
its walled garden and surrounding land, inhibited the town’s expansion. A row of small
workers’ houses or cottages, with no gardens or yards, faced onto Church Hill Road,*
while south of these, three terraces faced the River Lee. Lucia Place, named after Michael
Parker’s daughter, was built by the family between 1800 and 1830, and they also built
Rock Cottage (Plate 4).3* Waterview House was sold in 1816, but Richard Neville Parker,
who became Lord Mayor of Cork in 1826, regained possession of it before his death when
the Parker family were still substantial landholders in Maulbaun.® Neville’s brother,
William Parker, imported and exported goods from his warehouses and yards in Passage
and Cork city, and sublet numerous houses to tenants.’® William’s other property included
a lime kiln, baths and a salt works, and he was responsible for the construction of a retain-
ing wall between the river and the road at Passage.’” Continuing tensions between the
Parker family and the de Vesci estate were evident in 1843 when Richard Neville Parker
junior requested a longer lease on ten acres adjoining Waterview. The land agents, Stewart
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4 — Sherrard & Brassington, ‘Survey of Monkstown, Cork, the joint estate of Thomas, Earl of Longford
and John, Lord Viscount de Vesci’, 1805, showing the townland of Maulbaun,
Waterview House and the village of Passage (Pakenham Papers)

& Kincaid (previously Stewart & Swan), brought his letter ‘by desire of Lord De Vesci
before his son the Hon Thomas Vesey’.*® Parker did not get the lease terms he wanted
and complained that he ‘thought this a hard matter to a son of an old tenant who with my
grandfather managed the estate for many many years, I believe to the satisfaction of Mr.
Dunbar and of your lordship & Lord Longford’.* The Parker family had ‘expended thou-
sands upon parts of the estate ... planted and cultivated land surrendered to your lordship
who receives the advantage of the outlay’, estimating that £7,000 has been ‘outlayed at
Waterview alone’.** Despite the slow erosion of the Parker family’s control, they were
still a powerful dynasty in 1846 when Neville Parker lived at Waterview, Captain Nicholas
Parker lived at Belleview, Richard Neville Parker at Bath Terrace, and Catherine Parker
at Rock Cottage !
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Wealthy Cork residents began to discover Passage and Monkstown as summer
resorts in the early nineteenth century, while the July fair at Passage was a major social
event for residents of Cork city and rivalled Dublin’s suburban Donnybrook Fair#? In
1833 William Brown began construction of a dry dock called the Victoria Dock between
the Beach Road and the sea on the Longford de Vesci estate. Brown’s ship-building and
repair business provided ‘employment to a considerable number of artisans; and many
other of the labouring classes’.#> Bathing strands were located between Toureen and
Glenbrook and at the Strand Road in Monkstown, and in June 1807 a salt-water bathing
house was established near Ferry Point. The baths were extended and improved over the
following years, and in 1810 a special stage coach ran from Cork to these baths three
times a day. In that year, Passage was described as a ‘small but bustling town’ which was
‘much more convenient for travellers and sea-bathing than either Cove or Monkstown’,
though it was still “‘much in want of a few bathing machines’ #

The important ferry crossing from Ferry Point to Cove (now Cobh) was ‘the only
regular one from Cork downwards’, and provided ‘a communication with Cove and the
great island’ . It was ‘chiefly for passengers, market goods being most usually conveyed
to and from the city in boats’.*¢ In 1808, a year after the salt-water baths opened at Ferry
Point, the Ferry Hotel and Tavern opened.#’ In 1812 horse-drawn cabs carrying four pas-
sengers known as jingles started operating between Cork and Passage, and two years later
a jaunting car started running between Monkstown and Cork, a trip which took an hour
and a half. River transport between the city and harbour towns also increased, and in 1815
anew paddle steamer service started operating between Cork city and the lower harbour.*
William Parker had a number of building plots close to Ferry Point for sale in the early
nineteenth-century and insisted upon an exact uniformity in the house fagades. Instead
of the landlord, Parker seems to have enforced a form of planning control as head tenant,
demonstrating again the family’s control of the area’s development.

In contrast to the terraced housing built parallel to the shoreline near the baths at
Ferry Point, large detached villas on substantial grounds were built on the hillside between
Glenbrook and Monkstown, and some of these were let as summer resorts for the season.
Laurel Hill (¢.1800) was for let in 1805, with ‘offices, a garden in very good order, quite
convenient to the salt water, commanding a great prospect, with two acres of choice
meadow’.* Lackeroe House (c.1800) stood on an elevated site of fifteen acres overlook-
ing the harbour (Plate 5).°° In 1828 the popularity of this villa landscape was growing,
and Rockville Cottage was advertised to let as ‘one of the most eligible sites in Cork
Harbour for erecting villas, commanding a handsome prospect of the river, fine springs
of fresh water, and one of the best bathing places in Ireland at all times of the tide’ (Plate
5).! Dean’s Quay, which stood at the water’s edge just below Rockville Cottage, provided
shelter for boats and yachts. The cottage was replaced by the present-day larger three-
bay, two-storey Rockville House, described in 1838 as ‘quite new, finished in a superior
style of workmanship’.3

The importance of sea-bathing for attracting tenants to these villas was evident in
an 1825 advertisement for Rock Lodge (1813), a detached five-bay, two-storey house
with private bathing facilities and about fifteen acres ‘under gardens, plantations and
pleasure grounds’ (Plate 6).>% It was built in 1813 on a long north-south plan to maximise
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5 — Sherrard & Brassington, ‘Survey of 6 — Griffith’s Valuation Map based on the 1843
Monkstown, Cork ... townland of Gleen’, 1805 0.S. Map, showing the townland of Lackeroe
showing Lackeroe House, built ¢.1800 and Rockville including Laurel Hill (c.1800), Lackeroe House (c.1800),
Cottage built ¢.1800, which was rebuilt as a larger house, Rockville (rebuilt in 1838) and Royal Victoria Baths
Rockville, in 1838. The townland of Gleen was otherwise (1838); the townland of Monkstown including
known as Lackeroe. (Pakenham Papers) Carrigmahon House (1820s) and Rock Lodge (1813).

the fine harbour views to the east, and was described in 1851 as one of ‘many beautiful
seats placed in delightful situations’.>* In 1838 the appeal of the area as a resort was
further enhanced by the construction of the Royal Victoria Monkstown and Passage West
Baths, with gardens and a promenade on the river side of the new Glenbrook to
Monkstown road, and by 1846 they had been ‘fitted up with elegance and every appro-
priate convenience’ (Plate 7).>° Carrigmahon House (1820s) was built as the marine res-
idence of the O’Grady family in the mid-1820s (Plate 6). Situated between Rockville
Cottage and Rock Lodge on the wooded hillside overlooking the river, it was purchased
in 1852 by Dr Timothy Curtin who developed it as a health resort, with an emphasis on
a ‘water-cure’ treatment. A modern Turkish bath was installed in 1858, and in 1861 it was
extended with a new suite of bedrooms.%

Stewart & Kincaid, the Dublin-based agents for the estate from 1829, were one of
the two most prominent land agency firms managing estates in county Cork in the nine-
teenth century.”’ They generally appointed local agents to collect the rents and to supervise
improvements.”® Joseph Kincaid stated in 1843 that on estates where the landlord was
not resident, it was their practice ‘to have a respectable gentleman resident managing the
estate’ under their ‘immediate control and direction’.>® Robert Bailey, their local agent in
Cork in the 1840s, dealt with the day to day management of the estate and passed on
queries from prospective tenants to Stewart & Kincaid.®® He did not have the authority to
set the terms of leases, which were negotiated by Stewart & Kincaid, who would visit
the estate twice a year. This management at one remove was in marked contrast with the
very active role Stewart & Kincaid played on the Monkstown, Dublin estate. There they
lived and worked on the estate, investing in house-building themselves.®! Their manage-
ment of the Cork estate was much more remote and impersonal.
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7 — Royal Victoria Baths, also known as opposite, 8 — ‘Plan of Ground in Passage West,
Glenbrook Baths, with Rockville House behind it the estate of Lord Viscount de Vesci as laid out
and Lackeroe House to the right, c¢.1890 for building, G.R. Paine, 1834’

(Lawrence Collection, National Library of Ireland) (copied by M.H. Carroll, 1839); this scheme was not built)

On both the Monkstown, Dublin and the Monkstown, Cork estates, the ground
landlords typically invested in road infrastructure to encourage suburban developments.
Although the Cork investments were less substantial, improvements were made to the
network of local roads and boreens, with minor access roads improved and new roads
constructed. A major infrastructure project was completed in 1835, when two new sections
of road along the waterfront connected Glenbrook and Raffeen with Monkstown. Foot
and horse-drawn travel between Passage and Monkstown no longer had to negotiate a
steep hill, and the older Strand Road and other small local roads and pathways were incor-
porated into these 1830s developments. A road was also cut through the Giant’s Stairs at
Monkstown, ‘a rocky promontory with receding ledges of rock, having the appearance
of a rude staircase when viewed from the opposite bank of the Lee’.> Designed by Robert
Shaw, Esq., of Monkstown Castle, its ‘estimated cost was £2700, one third of which was
to be paid by the barony, the remainder by the county’.®* The Dublin Penny Journal enthu-
siastically described this new road, ‘which winding around the base of all the sloping and
wooded hills, and four feet only above the highest tides will unite Cork, Passage,
Monkstown, Carrigaline and Kinsale, by one uniform level: and thus open and improve
a large extent of country’.% The road’s potential to ‘open and improve’ a large area,
thereby preparing it for significant residential development, was evident to the public and
the ground landlords.%

John Vesey continued to support infrastructural investment on his Cork estate as
sole landlord post-1835 when he could make decisions more quickly without the need to
confer with Lord Pakenham. His son Thomas was active in the management of the estate
in the 1840s and often dealt with queries from the agents. In 1841 Robert Bailey reported
on the route of a new road which the estate intended to build in the Raffeen and
Ballyfoulou townland:
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I had Mr. Roberts and the surveyor with me yesterday looking at the Lands thro
which our proposed line of road had best be surveyed. The First best line we con-
sidered — To enter below at the Raffeen side, west, and continue a gradual ascent
to a certain point then cross the Ballyfoulou glen.®

The new road through Ballyfouloo was a measured 264 perches in length and the cost to
the estate was ‘not to exceed £200°.%7 Vesey’s investment in road-building increased the
long-term value of his estate and opened up new areas for further development.®® The
sloping ground between Waterview House and the sea was soon identified as an attractive
site for housing, and in 1834 Vesey commissioned surveyor G.R. Paine to prepare a ‘Plan
of Ground in Passage West ... as Laid out for building’.®® Paine designed a curved terrace
of semi-detached houses east of Waterview, arching from the lower end of Church Hill
to the site of the present Wesleyan church on Beach Road (Plate 8).7 This proposal was
similar in its ambition and design to Martin Carroll’s 1839 plan for Monkstown, Dublin,
which showed semi-detached villa sites located close to the proposed terraces of De Vesci
Terrace and Vesey Place.”' John Vesey took a close interest in all these plans for large
semi-detached villas, with views and side entrances, on generous plots in close proximity
to existing terraces.

The proposed villas were planned on 50ft-wide plots, with the entrances moved to
the side facades, so that each pair of houses could be treated as a single elevation. This
enhanced the illusion of social distinction by giving a pair of fashionable semi-detached
houses the appearance of one single great villa, a design strategy which was also employed
by Vesey on his own speculative houses, Tudor Lodge and Tudor Hall in Monkstown,
Dublin, as well as at nearby Willow Bank.” The estate called these semi-detached identical
villas which resembled one grand house ‘Siamese houses’.” The laying out of the semi-
detached houses in a crescent form was a device that became increasingly common after
1800 in London’s suburbs.’” The proposed form would also have created an impressive
crescent of substantial villas when viewed from the sea. Paine’s 1834 scheme did not pro-
ceed, but the proposal re-emerged in1849 when a Mr Dargan inquired about a road that
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9 — Nos 1-16 Maulbaun Terrace, Glenbrook
(photographed October 2017)

had been ‘blocked out’ for the plan but that had been ‘done very badly’.”> Stewart &
Kincaid informed Thomas Vesey there was still ‘much to be done in forming the ground
before it would be fit for building’,”® commissioning ‘Mr. Benson the present Co. Cork
engineer to make a plan and specification for laying out the ground & forming road’.”

To a greater extent than on the Dublin estate, tenants on the Monkstown, Cork
estate often sought a financial contribution from the estate before commencing a building
project. In 1843 John Hayes proposed terms for a lease for about twelve acres, to “plant
immediately one thousand Forest trees and to build a dwelling house of forty feet long
fifteen feet broad in the clear and 10 feet high exclusive of four gables, to loft the rooms
at each end thereof with boarded floors and to cover said house with best Bangor slate’.”®
His conditions included ‘immediate possession’ and ‘such assistance & encouragement
towards building said house as Charles Callaghan has got convenient thereto’.”® This
comment referred to John Vesey’s payment of £20 to Charles Callaghan for constructing
‘a very good slated house consisting of a good kitchen & a room at each end’ at
Ballyfouloo.® In 1845 the developer William Brown junior wrote to Robert Bailey that
Paine’s proposed crescent would require the road to be ‘cut further back so as to form
more of a crescent which would correspond with your plan’.3! He was willing to invest
in ‘two of the lower lots of about one hundred feet front each near the South end’ of the
crescent so long as he received ‘good encouragement’ to ‘build on a piece of ground that
in its present state is very uninviting’ because of the proliferation of industrial yards and
small workers’ housing nearby.®> Brown could not agree terms with the estate as he
requested a lease of 150 years, which they were unwilling to provide.

At Passage there was a greater demand for smaller terraced housing for the ship-
builders and the repair industry’s workers, while Monkstown remained a residential and
leisure landscape with larger semi-detached villas set out in generous plots. This dual
character, with residential marine villas lying in close proximity to a busy, noisy industrial
landscape, may have deterred developers from building Paine’s proposed villas at
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Passage.®* As Brown had warned, the site was ‘very uninviting’.# However, the concept
of pairs of semi-detached houses assuming the form of single free-standing villas was
later used at Alta Terrace, Monkstown, in the 1840s. Located further from the ship-build-
ing at Passage, this was a more suitable setting for a villa. Had Vesey been resident at his
Monkstown, Cork estate, he might have realised sooner that Paine’s 1834 crescent plan
was essentially proposed for the wrong place.

Maulbaun Terrace (¢.1820), later known as Victoria Terrace, was one of the earliest
nineteenth-century terraced developments on the Monkstown, Cork estate (Plate 9).%° In
1830 Henry P. Best signed a lease with the estate for land on Maulbaun Terrace on which
he had recently built ‘a Dwelling house containing in front to the terrace seventy six feet
and in depth from front to rere forty feet (more or less)’.%¢ Building on the terrace contin-
ued in the 1840s, and in 1843 Robert Bailey ‘agreed with the Widow Kelliher for the
house adjoining mine on the Terrace Maulbaun with the view of connecting the three in
part with the new house’.®” These were his own three central houses on the terrace — nos
11 to 13.38 Houses nos 14 to 16 were developed by Samuel Ahern, who lived himself at
no. 14. This pattern of a local resident speculative developer investing in constructing a
house for himself and another two or three houses to lease continued along the length of
the terrace. Robert Bailey’s houses, nos 11 to 13, had a higher ridge height than the rest
of the terrace and rounded arches over the doors. This variation in Maulbaun Terrace is
a key difference between development on the Monkstown estate in Cork and the
Monkstown estate in Dublin. In Dublin, lords Longford and de Vesci insisted, where pos-
sible, on approving plans and elevations for terraces and went to great lengths to ensure
that parapet levels were maintained along terraces and that a unity of facade was
achieved.® This was particularly evident in the development of Longford Terrace, De
Vesci Terrace and Vesey Place in Monkstown, Dublin, between 1835 and 1855.°° The
numerous letters between the ground landlords and their agents regarding the detailed
design of these high-end terraces in Dublin show that they both took a keen interest in
regulating development on their joint Dublin estate. In contrast to this, John Vesey and
his Dublin-based agents Stewart & Kincaid allowed developers to build on Maulbaun
terrace in a less controlled manner. This terrace was a far more modest development than
the prestigious terrace developments in Monkstown, Dublin, and probably both less valu-
able and less interesting to Vesey.

In keeping with the leisure character at Monkstown, a row of six semi-detached
marine villas, called Lower Marine Cottages, were constructed close to the shore in the
1830s (Plates 10, 12). Lewis described them in 1837 as ‘new and very handsome’, ‘con-
structed in the pure Elizabethan style’ and ‘chiefly occupied by respectable families as
bathing-lodges, for which purpose the village’ was ‘most favourably situated’.! The
description of the houses as ‘bathing lodges’ indicated a non-permanent use, with the
houses being let to residents for the summer months. The term ‘villa’ was more commonly
used on the Dublin estate in the nineteenth century, while the term ‘cottage’ was more
common on the Cork estate, indicating the more temporary, seasonal nature of the
Monkstown, Cork developments at this time.

In July 1843 the local agent Robert Bailey informed Stewart & Kincaid that the
lower row of Marine Cottages was complete and that Mr Shaw had started construction
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177, 10 — Monkstown, Co Cork, c¢.1890, showing
2 e Lower and Upper Marine Cottages
* .__l ; (Lawrence Photograph Collection, courtesy National
Sy Library of Ireland)

11 - Griffith’s Valuation Map based on the 1843
0.S. Map of Monkstown

showing Monkstown Church, Rock Lodge (1813), De Vesci
Place (1830s) and Lower Marine Cottages (1830s)

12 — Lower Marine Villa, Monkstown
(photographed June 2018)

opposite

':_.“u | ] A8 /o 13 — Alta Terrace, Monkstown, east elevation
i, : (photographed October 2017)
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on the upper row: ‘He is about forming a Terrace of Twin cottages ... and builds his own
buildings — 144 feet deep with back entrances and a lane way to stables. Mr Shaw and
son are building apace & his architect is to build another piece.’®> The Ordnance Survey
map of 1843 shows the first pair of Upper Marine Cottages (Plate 11). Mr Shaw’s archi-
tect, Mr Westropp, also built houses on the upper row of Marine Cottages.”* All of this
development was strongly orientated towards the waterfront, while the steep topography
was exploited to ensure the houses enjoyed sea views. In the late 1830s a row of terraced
housing called De Vesci Place was constructed in Monkstown village ** Further north,
Glenbrook Terrace had been constructed near the baths, and Maulbaun (Victoria) Terrace,
Lower Terrace and Bath Terrace had all been built along the road to Passage (Plate 11).
Houses on Glenbrook Terrace were advertised to let in 1846, containing ‘a drawing room,
parlour, kitchen with a range, 4 bedrooms, pantries a w.c. and servants’ quarters’ with ‘an
abundant supply of spring water conveyed by pipes’.>> The houses had 99-year leases,
granted by John Vesey in 1846.% The Parliamentary Gazetteer of Ireland praised
Monkstown’s recent developments in 1845: ‘Its newer parts extend along the shore, and
down the face of a verdant northerly slope and its whole character though straggling and
diversified is romantic and delightful.”®’

In 1838, the travel writer Charles Fraser described the small seaport of Passage,
‘about 5 miles from the city; and a little beyond it is the beautifully situated hamlet of
Monkstown, around which there are many delightfully circumstanced villas’.”® He rec-
ommended viewing the area by boat from ‘the estuary of the Lee, which stretches out
into magnificent arms of several miles in length and is bounded on all sides by high and
finely varied banks, covered with the well wooded lawns and pleasure grounds, connected
with the handsome seats which rise successively to view as the vessel glides along the
graceful windings of this, our most beautiful bays’.*” In contrast, Fraser criticised Cove,
which was ‘irregularly built’ and possessed ‘no good streets’.! The incompatibility of
noisy industry with a leisure retreat landscape was articulated in 1852 by the speculative
developer F.H. Lloyd who had built houses on the de Vesci estate at Passage. He com-
plained that letting ‘the strand in front of the Terrace houses’ for ship-building purposes
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Henry Hill (1807-1887)
W.B. Hoare’s Houses,
Monkstown, Co Cork, 1848

14 — ‘East or Principal
Elevation of Houses now in
Progress of Building at
Monkstown for W.B. Hoare
Esq., Henry Hill, July 1848’
(elevation towards sea)

15 — ‘West or entrance
elevation’

16 — ‘Principal floor’
(ground-floor plan, with larger
house on left)

opposite

17 — Henry Hill,
House at Monkstown, Co Cork
framed watercolour, undated

(all drawings courtesy
Irish Architectural Archive)
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‘would inflict so serious an injury’ on his business.!”! He had expended ‘some thousands
of pounds in improving your lordships estate under the impression that the water accom-
modation and view would not be cut off in the way now contemplated’.!? In addition,
‘the hammering and noise of repairing a vessel” would be insupportable ‘to persons who
reside in this place for health and recreation in summer’.!* Lloyd’s complaints about the
negative impact of industry on the leisure function of Passage sums up the dual character
of this part of the de Vesci estate. In contrast, Monkstown village was located further
from the ship-building yards and maintained its resort character.

Further south, away from the noisy industry of Passage, Alta Terrace dates from
the late 1840s and was also known as Alta Cottages and the Upper Terrace (Plate 13). It
originally consisted of eight houses, and a further two were built at the Monkstown village
end in the early 1860s. The houses were designed by Cork architect Henry Hill, the
brother and partner of William Hill, in July 1848. They are a variation of a house type he
had designed five years earlier for Richard and Thomas Exham at Monkstown, which
harmonised with the semi-rural idyll he was trying to create. Henry Hill’s watercolour
perspective of one of his earlier designs for an ideal twin villa at Monkstown in Cork
shows some of the suburban design concepts he favoured (Plate 17).1% Unusual elements
of these villas on Alta Terrace include the fact that the principal elevation is not the
entrance elevation. Instead, in a similar way to houses at Montenotte in Cork, the water-
front-facing eastern elevation is given greater importance (Plate 14), indicating that the
view of the houses from the water (and that of the water from the house) was considered
more important than views to and from the entrance facade. The principal waterfront ele-
vation has a bay window to maximise the view. This decision to locate the entrance to
the house in the rear west elevation, with the entrance doors discreetly located to the side,
was influenced by the steep topography of the area (Plate 15). It was easier to construct
a level access road to the back of the houses and to allow the gardens to slope away from
the houses towards the waterfront than to build an access road to the front with steps up
to the houses.

These semi-detached houses were designed to resemble large single-villa mansions
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facing onto the waterfront. In order to give the impression of one large mansion house, the
houses are not equally divided, with one house having an additional breakfast parlour (Plate
16), and the front facade of the house was treated as a single elevation. This created the
illusion of one large three-bay-wide villa when viewed from the water, giving the aesthetic
quality of an elite villa landscape, while each large ‘villa’ actually provided two semi-
detached affordable houses of a suitable scale for middle-class professionals. In this way,
the semi-detached houses of Alta Terrace resolutely distanced themselves from the more
pedestrian terraced houses of nearby Passage West. This is another distinction between the
Dublin and Cork estates: in Cork, the maritime character dominated the design.'%

All this development of desirable seaside middle-class homes was progressing at
a time when much of Cork was suffering badly from the Great Famine of 1844-49. In
March 1845 Vesey stated clearly that he did not want to spend money on his Cork estate:
‘With respect to my being called upon to lay out a large sum of money, I am desirous to
avoid every expense at present in order not to increase my debt but if possible to diminish
it.”1% David J. Butler has found that ‘substantial landlord debt was exacerbated by, rather
than caused by the Famine’.!” In 1846 John Vesey was criticised for his minimal assis-
tance offered to his poor tenants on the Cork estate. Neither John Vesey nor his son
Thomas understood the living conditions of their tenants and were justifiably criticised
for their indifference as absentee landlords.

The Longford de Vesci Estate at Monkstown, Cork, was transformed from an eigh-
teenth-century agricultural landscape into a seasonal seaside resort in the early nineteenth
century, and then into a permanent residential suburb in the 1830s. While the fishing vil-
lage of Passage developed its ship-repair industry and became the busiest anchorage in
Cork by the late 1820s, Monkstown was dotted with suburban villa residences for the
wealthy elite who visited on a seasonal basis from the city. The role of the Parker family,
and the attempts by the estate to limit their influence by refusing to lease them an entire
townland, demonstrate how the estate changed its management practices to retain control
of its increasingly popular and valuable coastal property. The Monkstown, Cork estate
was managed differently to the Monkstown, Dublin estate, particularly after it became
the property solely of John Vesey in 1835. The use of a local agent, the infrequent visits
by the main agents Stewart & Kincaid, the loose control of leases, the variations permitted
in house types and the more modest scale of the houses overall, illustrate some of the dif-
ferences between the Cork and Dublin estates. Vesey did not require the developer to sub-
mit plans or elevations for approval for modest terraces like Maulbaun Terrace. However,
he did commission G.R. Paine to prepare ambitious plans for a new curved street of semi-
detached villas. He also encouraged the construction of the large semi-detached Lower
and Upper Marine Villas, and inspected and approved their design. The plans and eleva-
tions of Alta Terrace prepared by Henry Hill in 1848 were also subject to estate approval.
The marine character of these villas, and the prioritisation of a resort landscape orientated
to enjoy sea views, is another key difference between the Dublin and Cork estates. On
the more densely developed Dublin estate, semi-detached villas in seafront locations were
not encouraged, while, further inland, terraces were often orientated towards pleasure
gardens rather than towards the sea.!®® The design strategies employed by the estate in
Monkstown, Cork, were always marine in orientation.
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